Learn Tarot Card Reading in Under 1-Hour with Tarotskills.com

Grace Calas

Learn Tarot Card Reading in Under 1-Hour with Tarotskills.com



BY GRACE CALAS at TarotSkills.com

© 2021-2022 COMPETENTSEE, LLC dba TAROTSKILLS.COM

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Acknowledgment

For my husband, Jim. Thank you for being unafraid of the woman who became the fire... rather than burn in it. I am forever yours.

Contents

	Pref	face: How can someone learn Tarot in under 1	hour? 9
١.		Introduction to Tarot Card Readings	12
	1.	What is Tarot?	12
	2.	Does Tarot (Really) Predict the Future?	15
	3.	Who Reads Tarot?	19
11.		How to Give Accurate Tarot Card Readings	20
	1.	What are the Basic Rules?	20
	2.	What Is the Structure of the Deck?	22
	3. Mea	Introduction to the Key Components of Card anings	24
	3. Guio	How to Read Tarot Without Memorizing or U debook	-
	Р	art 1 - Intro	27
	Р	art 2 - Deck Selection	28
	Р	art 3 - Understanding Elements	
	Ρ	art 4 - PIP Positions and Numerology	33
	Ρ	art 5 - The Court Cards	44
	Р	art 6 - Astrology	47
	Р	art 7 - How to Hack Your Intuition	52
111	•	How to Excel in the Art of Tarot Reading	56
	1.	How to Increase Accuracy and Effectiveness.	56
	Р	art 1 - The Art of Great (Querent) Questions	56
	Р	art 2 - How to Avoid Going Blank	59
	Р	art 3 - Learning New Spreads	62

	2.	Skeptics, Verbal Attacks, Unhappy Querents, and	
	Who	o to Refer Away	.67
	3.	Protecting your Energy	.71
	4.	How to Handle a Scary Reading	.72
IV		Professional Tarot Card Reading	.76
	1.	Can you Make Money Reading Tarot?	.76
	2.	How Do I Start a Tarot Reading Business?	.77
	3.	Ethics	.80
Appendix Individual Card Meanings8			. 87
0 - The Fool			. 88
I - The Magician89			. 89
II - The High Priestess90			. 90
III - The Empress91			.91
IV - The Emperor92			. 92
V - The Hierophant93			. 93
VI - The Lovers			.94
VII - The Chariot			. 95
VI	II - S	trength	.96
IX - The Hermit97			. 97
X - Wheel of Fortune			. 98
XI - Justice			. 99
XII - The Hanged Man100			100
XIII - Death			101
XIV - Temperance			102
XV - The Devil			103
XVI - The Tower			104

XVII - The Star	. 105
XVIII - The Moon	. 106
XIX - The Sun	. 107
XX - Judgement	. 108
XXI - The World	. 109
1 - Ace of Swords	. 110
2 - Two of Swords	. 111
3 - Three of Swords	. 112
4 - Four of Swords	. 113
5 - Five of Swords	. 114
6 - Six of Swords	. 115
7 - Seven of Swords	. 116
8 - Eight of Swords	. 117
9 - Nine of Swords	. 118
10 - Ten of Swords	. 119
Page of Swords	. 120
Knight of Swords	. 121
Queen of Swords	. 122
King of Swords	. 123
1 - Ace of Coins	. 124
2 - Two of Coins	. 125
3 - Three of Coins	. 126
4 - Four of Coins	. 127
5 - Five of Coins	. 128
6 - Six of Coins	. 129
7 - Seven of Coins	. 130

8 - Eight of Coins	131
9 - Nine of Coins	132
10 - Ten of Coins	133
Page of Coins	134
Knight of Coins	135
Queen of Coins	136
King of Coins	137
1 - Ace of Wands	138
2 - Two of Wands	139
3 - Three of Wands	140
4 - Four of Wands	141
5 - Five of Wands	142
6 - Six of Wands	143
7 - Seven of Wands	144
8 - Eight of Wands	145
9 - Nine of Wands	146
10 - Ten of Wands	147
Page of Wands	148
Knight of Wands	149
Queen of Wands	150
King of Wands	151
1 - Ace of Cups	152
2 - Two of Cups	153
3 - Three of Cups	154
4 - Four of Cups	155
5 - Five of Cups	156

6 - Six of Cups	157
7 - Seven of Cups	158
8 - Eight of Cups	159
9 - Nine of Cups	160
10 - Ten of Cups	161
Page of Cups	162
Knight of Cups	163
Queen of Cups	164
King of Cups	165
About the Author	166
About the Deck	167

Preface: How can someone learn Tarot in under 1 hour?

Dear Reader,

I've had middle-aged witches spit in my face for saying I can teach you to read tarot in under 1 hour. I understand this reaction. Being a middleaged expert myself, I know the art of tarot reading takes both years of work and experience, and an ability to humbly learn new things about them every day.

Tarot reading is deeply rooted in the folds of the human psyche where shadows and light bend with each new perspective of our ever-evolving level of personal maturity. It's a lifelong commitment to obtaining knowledge and discovering we know very little every time we learn more. Reading tarot is also playing beyond the veil in the unexplained, spiritual, and paranormal. How could anyone do all that in under an hour? You cannot.

But I didn't say you would be an authority in the subject in under 1 hour—only that you could accurately read tarot. In the same way, I could teach you to juggle (in less than 1 minute) without ever missing ---by using small chiffon scarves.... instead of heavy, hard balls!

Our world has grown too fast, too crowded, and too data-driven for the old arts to be taught in old ways. When my daughter was born in 1991, I began to observe that new generations were being born with a much higher percentage of the untypical and gifted. It manifests in unexplained "conditions"; some we publicly study (such as autism), and some we don't (such as empaths, intuitives, psychics and energy healers). I believe this uptick in the unknown is nature's way of balancing the loss of magic(k) in an ever-growing, too loud, and mundane world. Additionally, in the world I grew up in, many of us suppressed our gifts. We are only now beginning to rediscover them.

I created tarot decks, education tools, and quick reference materials to lower the barriers of entry for new tarot readers of all generations. Welcoming new readers without the pretense of a long and difficult apprenticeship is not only needed --but necessary. Starting with online training that takes place in under 1 hour, new readers can hit the floor running without an ongoing dependence on a guidebook. This foundation is the basis for a life-long relationship with self-discovery and helping others using the art of tarot reading.

So. Mote. It. Be.

Grace alas

Grace Calas

I. Introduction to Tarot Card Readings

Do tarot cards contain magic capable of whispering the secrets of our future? Are they the work of the devil ... or a party trick? The mystery is half the fun! Tarot can be learned in under an hour, and this book provides insights, so you, the reader, can decide the rest.

1. What is Tarot?

Tarot is a 78-card illustrated game deck that contains characters and concepts symbolic of life lessons. The deck is shuffled, a few cards are selected randomly in a spread¹, and then interpreted to tell a story that many believe

¹ A spread is the selected pattern and number of cards used by a tarot card reader in their reading, which is typically 1-10 cards.

depicts the querent's² future and fortune. The storyteller (a tarot card reader) is often a lightworker³ but does not have to be. Many cultures and beliefs are drawn to the cards, but it's noteworthy that special interest seems to be taken by those who are highly spiritual, pagans, wiccans, multi-cultural Magic(k) practitioners, and those who are inclined to be.

The first recorded use of tarot cards dates back more than 600 years to the 14th century in southern Europe. They were sold as a bridge-like card game called *Tarocchi*, which was only played by the privileged elite because it was very expensive to acquire a deck. Every card had to be hand drawn under the commission of an artist. The oldest surviving cards, known as the Visconti-

² A querent is the person who is having their cards read.

³ A lightworker is a term for empaths, energy healers, clairvoyants, mediums, or psychics.

Sforza deck, was made for the Duke of Milan's family in the 1440s.

Over the centuries the game slowly spread throughout Europe and became known as simply "Tarot". The cards were not thought of as a tool for divination until the late 1700s. And were not well known for nearly 200 more years, when occult societies became in vogue.

In 1909, William Rider published a card deck with an occultist, E. A. Waite, and an artist, Pamela Colman Smith. This deck became known as the *Rider-Waite-Smith deck* and is still the most popular tarot deck in use today.

2. Does Tarot (Really) Predict the Future?

Whether or not you believe in the tarot's ability to foretell the future depends on whom you ask. There is both science and the supernatural to consider.

Science

Dr. Carl Jung (b. 1875 – d. 1961), a Swiss

psychiatrist who studied with Sigmund Freud,

believed in the overarching influence of

archetypes⁴ as part of our collective unconscious⁵.

There are hundreds of archetypical characters,

each with identifying qualities and personality

⁴ An archetype is a commonly recognized human behavior (manifesting as a person or event) that anyone can relate to regardless of their relative age, culture, education, social, economic, or other backgrounds.

⁵ Jung defined the "collective unconscious" as the information that is common to all mankind that originates from an inherited structure of the brain.

patterns, that make them easy to relate to, such as "the hero," "the outlaw," "the ruler", "the wise sage", etc..

Dr. Jung believed that all archetypes exist in every person, but most remain hidden from the individual by the individual's subconscious mind. For example, many people do not want to think that the archetype of "the villain" could exist within them, even though the odds are high that everyone will be the villain in someone else's story at least once in their lifetime. Jung proffered that introspection brings about a deeper understanding of self and holds the keys to happiness. He supported the use of tarot cards to provide a method to understand our unconscious motivations by relating to the characters and concepts depicted in the cards. By recognizing these archetypes within us, he believed we could better predict our future based on our deeper

understanding of the past as it evolved to the present.

Along the lines of self-evaluation is the concept that people tend to exhibit cognitive bias⁶. The "Barnum Effect" was discovered in 1948 when psychologist Bertram Forer conducted an experiment. The study was made by giving each participant the same generalized statement privately, and having each participant believe that the statement was made exclusively for them. For example, the statement "you tend to be selfcritical" was accepted by every participant. They were each able to "fill in" the information that made that statement uniquely true for them.

When exploited by con artists, the results are often unethical. This is the root of the bad

⁶ Cognitive bias is an individual's subjective construction of reality, not the objective input, that dictates their behavior.

reputation that tarot card readers are often stereotyped with. But, as with the concepts of Dr. Carl Jung, the principles of the Barnum effect are not harmful if they are used for introspection, selfanalysis, and pursuing pathways to happiness. The ethics, intentions, and gifts of the reader trump all else.

Supernatural

Psychic mediumship is the most robust form of "intuition," but strong "gut feelings" are an unexplained force of nature, too. Some tarot readers claim to be able to communicate in supernatural terms, while others often just "know" when something isn't right. Research suggests that the brain is a predictive machine, constantly comparing incoming sensory information and current experiences against stored knowledge and predicting what will come next. The exact source of that information is unknown. However, the results are well documented. For example, countless victims of crime have been known to report that they knew they shouldn't trust someone before the crime happened---- but they ignored their instincts and ended up suffering the crime anyway because of it. Regardless, the ability to see into the future has long been a topic that is both loved and feared. The genuinely gifted prove their worth by the results of their work.

3. Who Reads Tarot?

Anyone can learn to read the tarot. It is not required to be a psychic, an empath, or any rare or limiting prerequisite talent. The only requirement to be a great tarot card reader is an open mind, positive intent, an agreement to adhere to a common-sense code of ethics, and an ongoing commitment to learning.

II. How to Give Accurate Tarot Card Readings

1. What are the Basic Rules?

While all fortune telling decks are meant to answer questions during a reading by a trained interpreter, not all decks are the same or follow the same rules. There are hundreds of "oracle" decks, which each differ from tarot cards in their general structure, content, number of cards, religious, and philosophical intent.

Tarot card readers generally follow basic rules based on the Rider-Waite-Smith deck, which was published in 1909. This deck has endured as the world's most popular 78-card tarot deck. It was not originally published with a guidebook. Its meanings were embedded in the illustrations of each card using symbolism and color to convey the intent of the card, which was based on the teachings of a secret society known as the Hermetic Order of the Golden Dawn.

A.E. Waite and Pamela Colman Smith, the creators of the Rider-Waite-Smith tarot deck, belonged to the Hermetic Order of the Golden Dawn, and later to a spin-off called the Rite of the Golden Dawn⁷. Pamela Colman Smith, the artist who illustrated the deck, was influenced by A.E. Waite's interpretations of the Golden Dawn teachings. He later authored the book "The Pictorial Key to the Tarot".

⁷ The Rite of the Golden Dawn was also later known as the Holy Order of the Golden Dawn.

It is important to note that these tarot "rules" are a wonderful place to start... but may not resonate with every reader. That's ok! There is no wrong way to read the tarot cards. However, as with all traditions, the tried-and-true method of something can typically only be improved upon once it is deeply understood. This is the reason this book begins with them.

2. What Is the Structure of the Deck?

The tarot deck is composed of 78 cards that each represent characters and concepts. It is up to the reader, together with the querent, to identify the person or event represented by each card using these defined characteristics and concepts.

There are 22 Major Arcana cards. These cards represent the long-term consequences of choices

and events that become significant life lessons. There are 56 Minor Arcana cards that represent shorter-term consequences originating from routine, daily life experiences. The Minor Arcana is subdivided into 4 suits that each have 10 numbered cards (called PIP cards), and Court Cards (Pages, Knights, Queens, and Kings).

Once the querent's question (if any) is placed, the cards are shuffled and a random "spread" of cards is drawn. The cards are then "read" depending on the type of spread used. For example, one card is typically a simple "yes" or "no" reading, where 3 or more cards often represent the concepts of "past", "present", and "future". The interpretation of the cards is made according to the meanings that are assigned to each card and the intuition of the reader, together with the querent.

3. Introduction to the Key Components of Card Meanings

There are essential attributes that are universally accepted as the "traditional" meaning for each card. These help to ensure continuity in readings. You may grow to interpret the cards differently which is not wrong or uncommon! Your intuition is the ultimate "correct" answer.

A. Archetypes (i.e., pattern of behavior): Upright Definitions & Reversal Definitions

Each card in the tarot deck is assigned an upright and reversed⁸ meaning based on an archetype, which may be a person or event.

⁸ "Reversed" cards are cards that are drawn upside down.

B. "Yes" or "No" Inferences

Individual cards represent the concept of "yes," "no," or "maybe" (in which case the answer is based on the intuition of the reader).

C. Basic numerology

The positional number of the card in the deck has an associated meaning for the minor arcana PIP cards (ace to 10) and court cards.

D. Element and Root Meanings

The cards are each associated with an element that has a core meaning.

Fire
Air
Water
Earth

E. Astrology

Each of the 12 zodiac signs are assigned to some of the tarot cards⁹.

1. Primary Planets

Planetary influences are assigned to some cards based on definitions originally made around the turn of the 20th century.

2. Outer Planets

The outer planets were included after the original associations were made.

F. Timing

There are several elements associated with timing using the tarot cards. The modalities associated with astrology in tarot include the concepts of

⁹ Astrology in tarot will be detailed later in this book, as defined by the Golden Dawn.

"Cardinal", "Fixed", Or "Mutable"¹⁰. Timing is further defined with the season of the year.

3. How to Read Tarot Without Memorizing or Using a Guidebook

Part 1 - Intro

Card meanings are the alphabet of the story. These meanings combined with the reader's gift of intuition and analysis make the pages of the book. To be an effective tarot card reader, it is essential to understand the meaning and essence of each card; without doing this is to negate the magical value of the life lessons associated with the archetype of each.

¹⁰ "Cardinal", "Fixed", Or "Mutable will be detailed later in this book.

To weave a story, a reader must acquaint themselves with each card concept and be able to visualize a real occurrence of each. But trying to memorize all 78 cards is a daunting task that stops some people from moving forward with learning to read the cards. Let's face it, stopping in the middle of a tarot session to look up card meanings or use a guidebook can damage the confidence of both the reader and the querent. The good news is that several simple techniques can eliminate the need to do either of these things. They include selecting the right deck, learning the elemental references, and the surprisingly easy-to-remember meanings of the numbered positions of the cards.

Part 2 - Deck Selection

The best place to start reading tarot without a guidebook is with a good deck. A tarot reader should select a deck based on what feels right for

them. Imagery should be the most important part of their consideration.

A well-illustrated deck will quickly communicate universally recognized symbols of thought. Popular imagery comes from the Rider-Waite-Smith deck. But those images can be hard to relate to because they are so dated. Selecting a deck that provides modern imagery designed for rapid sensory-intuition response can be helpful.

My first deck, the "Renaissance Tarot Deck," is beautiful but was unhelpful when I was a beginner. I wanted simple hints and references built into the design of each, that I could see without overpowering the card or the querent's experience with the card. I could not find a deck that provided this. That was why I designed **The Lightworker's Deck** and **The Star Kissed Tarot** **Deck,** sold by Tarot Skills, to replace the need for a guidebook.

Part 3 - Understanding Elements

A great deck will depict the element (air, fire, water, or earth) associated with each card. Knowing this will help the reader quickly leap to the core of the card's meaning, which may be about: thinking, doing, feeling, or securing.

AIR - Air is associated with thinking, intellect, and intelligence. It is often denoted with white, blue, or purple coloring on a card. The suit of swords and all four pages are associated with air.



FIRE - Fire is associated with doing, action and movement. It is often denoted with red or yellow coloring on a card. The suit of wands and all four knights are associated with fire.



Water EMOTIONS • Cups • Queens/Woman

EARTH- Earth is associated with securing, responsibilities, and dependability. It is often denoted with green or brown coloring on a card. The suit of coins and all four kings are associated with earth.



In a reading, if you pull an air card, you are dealing with the part of a story that has to do with someone's intellect. A fire card addresses the part of the story that requires physical work in the doing of something. A water card addresses how the people in the story feel or felt. And the earth card is the part of the story that required physical security.

Part 4 - PIP Positions and Numerology

The positional number of the card in the deck has an associated meaning for the minor arcana PIP cards (ace to 10). The PIP card's position in the deck is a hint in the cradle to grave concept of the card meaning in the spread. Lesser cards are at the beginning of something and the greater numbers at the end of something. And, by remembering one key word for each number you can quickly get a hint at the relevance of the number to the story in the spread. A simple key-word version is as follows:

- Ace: Potential
- 2: Choice
- 3: Advancing
- 4: Comparison
- 5: Struggle
- o 6: Balance
- o 7: Reflection
- o 8: Expertise

- 9: Consequence
- 10: Post-mortem (Evaluation)

Aces = Potential

Aces are like the birth of a newborn. All

opportunities are joyously shining... we just don't yet know what this new life will bring.

Wands	Motivated Beginning (such as deciding to lose weight)
Swords	Newfound Clarity (such as a new business idea)
Cups	Emotional Readiness (such as deciding you are ready to date)
Coins	New Abundance (such as a sudden financial windfall)









<u>2 = Choice</u>

Twos are like a small child learning that they can choose things for themselves... but lacking the understanding of consequences.

- Wands Moving Forward (such as trying to decide what new diet will work best i.e.: intermittent fasting, keto, etc., and not yet appreciating what each one requires)
- Swords Difficult Decision (such as thinking about all choices to solve a problem and getting stuck in indecision)
- Cups Perfect Partnership (such as deciding on a new relationship and being hopeful for a future that is still unguaranteed)
- **Coins** Set Priorities (such as with selecting a work-life balance based only on what you know you want today)









3 = Advancing

Threes are like a young person who is growing and maturing. They have begun to recognize the true value of things more deeply.

Wands	Notable Growth (such as beginning
	to see results from your hard work on
	a diet)

- Swords Severe Heartbreak (such as realizing how much love was lost and thus discovering the value of it)
- Cups Gleeful Celebration (such as appreciating the value of having fun with loved ones)
- **Coins** Building Foundation (such as understanding the value of education)








<u>4 = Comparison</u>

Fours are like a person who is beginning to compare their level of happiness against something, some time, or someone else.

- Wands Grateful Togetherness (such as a family reunion after time apart)
- Swords Earned Rest (such as taking a muchneeded work vacation)
- Cups Arrogant Wastefulness (such as undervaluing the person you are with because the "grass looks greener" elsewhere)
- **Coins** Holding Tight (such as not sharing with others who have less to keep it all to yourself)









<u>5 = Struggle</u>

Fives are like a person who has come halfway, but are now becoming overwhelmed with how much farther they (still) must go to reach their goal.

Wands	Frictional Conflict (such as when
	highly opinionated people are not
	working well together)
Cups	Haunting Loss (such as losing a
	partner and having to start over)

- **Swords** Ruthless Win (such as the desire to win at all costs)
- Coins Hard Misfortune (such as losing a job)









<u>6 = Balance</u>

Sixes are like a person who has learned how to find balance, both in togetherness/sharing, and in having a solid foundation to reach a goal.

- Wands Glorious Win (such as reaching a milestone in weight loss and posting pictures about it on social media)
- Cups Cherished Memories (such as discovering what you want in a mate based on your past experiences)
- Swords Needed Change (such as escaping a tough situation with the help of others)
- **Coins** Generous Giving (such as knowing when you have enough and should share with others in need)









7 = Reflection

Sevens are like a person who has grown wise enough to accurately gauge their progress to a goal.

Wands	All-In Determined (such as the final weeks preparing to run a marathon)
Cups	Grandiose Temptations (such as wanting something that is known to be too good to be true)
Swords	Hidden Deceit (such as the learned ability to lie or to spot a lie)
Coins	Fruits of Labor (such as measuring a health of a retirement account)









<u>8 = Expertise</u>

Eights are like a person who has become a master at what it *really* takes to get a goal completed and, like all experts, can make it look easy.

Wands	Accelerating Quickly (such as	
	reaching the finish line in a marathon)	

- Cups Stagnant Routine (such as becoming bored within a predictable long-time partnership)
- Swords Self-Doubt (such as knowing what it takes and questioning if you have what it takes)
- **Coins** Acquiring Expertise (such as mentoring a new employee)









9 = Consequence

Nines are like a person who now reaps the karma of their many actions and decisions.

- Wands Withstanding Adversity (such as becoming exhausted from your work all the while knowing you can't quit)
- Cups Wishes Granted (such as enjoying the bond from a love you have nurtured)
- Swords Reliving Past Trauma (such as PTSD or even replaying an argument in your head repeatedly)
- **Coins** Prosperous Victory (such as enjoying financial success you worked for)









10= Postmortem (Evaluation)

Tens are like a person at the end of a journey, now measuring its success by what it took to get there.

Wands	Heavy Burden (such as being un- endingly buried in the weight of the journey)
Cups	Lovingly Complete (such as perfectly feeling content and protective of the family you built)
Swords	Deep Anguish (such as the crushing loss of a long fought for goal)
Coins	Lasting Security (such as the ability to leave behind inheritance for family)









Part 5 - The Court Cards

The "face card" or "court card" in Tarot typically depicts a person. The person can represent the querent or someone else and is recognized by the personality traits and characteristics of the card. As previously shared, the court cards are each associated with an element, which influences the card's meaning, and card position indicates the age (or maturity) of the person.

PAGES - Pages represent air with the characteristics of intellect, thoughts, and ideas. They embody the essence of young people and being at the beginning of something with kid-like excitement. The energy of the card is the driver.... the person does not have to be a child, male or



KNIGHTS - Knights represent fire with the characteristics of action, movement, and getting things done. They embody the essence of testosterone-filled young men. The energy of the card is the driver.... the person does not have to be young or a man.









The energy of the card is the driver.... the person does not have to be older or a woman.



KINGS

Kings represent earth with the characteristics of responsibility and dependability. They embody the essence of masculine power and ultimate authority. The energy of the card is the driver.... the person does not have to be older or a man.









Part 6 - Astrology

Tarot may be used as a form of divination to predict the future based on randomly selected elements. Astrology is the study of a person's likely characteristics based on the influence of planetary positions and movements. Together they can provide enhanced insights in spiritual readings making it popular for tarot readers to do so. This book is not a complete guide to the vast art of astrology but will serve as a first-floor foundation for tarot readers to get started.

Astrology, although having no scientific validity or explanatory power, is based in the centuries old belief that what happens in the universe (the planets, moons, and stars) influences human characteristics and behavior. Earth's 360-degree orbit around the sun, divided equally into 30-degree sections, makes 12 separate slices of the sky that are each viewable on Earth based on the time of year that they appear.

Western astrology measures from Equinox and Solstice points. It begins in Spring with Aries, and continues with Taurus, Gemini, Cancer, Leo, Virgo, Libra, Scorpio, Sagittarius, Capricorn, Aquarius and concludes with Pisces at the end of the 365-day year. Over the centuries, axial precession has caused the sky to shift out of alignment with the constellations they were named after although the meanings have remained mostly consistent.

Every sign has a detailed sense of "being." A simple key-word version is as follows:

o Fire Signs

 γ Aries: Self-aware

 δ Leo: Dominating

✓Sagittarius: Intellectual

o Air Signs

II Gemini: Versatile

요 Libra: Diplomatic

🗯 Aquarius: Confident

o Water Signs

Cancer: Sensitive

M Scorpio: Focused

ℋ Pisces: Intuitive

o Earth Signs

& Taurus: Collector

M Virgo: Precise

% Capricorn: Pragmatic

G. Primary Planetary Influences

Planetary influences are assigned to some cards based on definitions by the Golden Dawn and the 7 planets that could be seen from earth in the late 1800s. It is noteworthy that these were debated by members within the Golden Dawn and consensus was not fully reached, which is the reason tarot readers may use different definitions. This book focuses on the most popular of the Golden Dawn meanings. Every planet has a different sense of "being." A simple key-word version is as follows:

- 1. Sun Sure ⊙
- 2. Mercury Smart ♀
- 3. Venus Loving ♀
- 4. Moon Feeling D
- 5. Mars Tough d
- 6. Jupiter Growing 긔
- 7. Saturn Unsure ħ

H. Other Planetary influences

The outer planets were included after the original Golden Dawn associations. Each of the distant planets has a different sense of "being." A simple key-word version is as follows:

- ♥ Uranus: Discovering
- $\circ \Psi$ Neptune: Idealizing
- P Pluto: Transforming

I. Timing

There are several elements associated with timing using the tarot cards. The modalities associated with astrology include the concepts of Cardinal, Fixed, Or Mutable. Timing is further defined with the time of year and season. Timing can be narrowed to very granular aspects of days, weeks, months and even years. However, this book focuses only on the broadest level because a deep understanding of astrology is (typically) also needed to master more.

- Cardinal: Beginning
- Fixed: Middle
- o Mutable: End
- o Spring, Summer, Fall and Winter

Part 7 - How to Hack Your Intuition

We all have a deep knowing within us. All people can tap into intuition. It only requires an open mind and a willingness to learn to trust yourself. Hacking your intuition to improve your empathic or psychic ability is surprisingly simple.

1. Trust your gut

Scientific research shows that our intuition hits us on a physical level first, which preps the consciousness to catch up. Your gastrointestinal tract has 100 million neurons. This network of nerve cells lining the digestive tract is so extensive that it is often referred to as our "second brain." So getting a "gut feeling", butterflies in your tummy, or stomach pains is how you are notified that your subconscious wants you to pay attention to something. Your gut works better when it is healthy.

🗘 наск:

Keep your gut flora healthy (which means eating a good diet, exercising, and getting enough sleep.)

2. Notice the Energy Around You

Some people don't properly regulate their own energy ---and have adapted by taking yours. Many don't even know they are doing it. Our querents come in all shapes and sizes of spiritual health. The best way to help them is to protect your energy levels and, thereby the messages that the cards want to deliver.

🗘 наск:

Keep your vibrations steady by setting your intention with an affirmation. Example: "My energy is rooted to the earth and fused to the universe, in such abundance that it can't run low."

3. <u>Get Yourself in the Right Place</u>

Being in the right place is more than just an incense-infused physical space. Mindfulness is our ability to be fully present, aware of where we are, what we're doing, and accepting of it. You can ruin the message intended by the cards if you are worried about the past or are rushing to get to the future.

Ф наск:

Take a deep breath. Breathing in "peace and calm." Exhaling out "tension and anxiety."

4. Embrace Your Worth

There are no rules. What's "right" for you may be a big no-no for me. For example:

Some will never let querents touch their cards, while others use their touch to detect psychic imprints and have no problem clearing that energy between uses. If it feels right to you, it is correct. This is because the magic is inside of YOU. You don't need to understand the ins and outs of rituals or magic(k) customs. You DO need to believe in the power inside of yourself. Tap into and embrace what you believe most in--- including religions and other forms of divination.

Ф наск:

Different vibrational rates and energy patterns happen when you focus on your beliefs, expectations, motivations, and intentions. Look in the mirror and remind yourself that you are a person of worth.

III. How to Excel in the Art of Tarot Reading

1. How to Increase Accuracy and Effectiveness

Part 1 - The Art of Great (Querent) Questions

Cards show the progression of the present, as it evolved from the past, and the probable outcomes

of the current path to the future. Tarot makes it possible to predict future events because the querent can use the story of a card spread to introspect on what they want and how they want to get to a goal. The best outcomes happen when you ask great questions, and some questions should be avoided altogether.

Framing a question correctly is essential. While some readers do not require the querent to tell them their question, the reader and querent must follow some basic guidelines to get a proficient reading outcome.

1. Ask Open Ended Questions

Asking a question that requires a simple yes or no response is often anticlimactic and unfulfilling. The future is in constant flux with every new action in the present, the future is altering and rearranging. Therefore, a "yes" or "no" reading will only show what a probable outcome is. It will not help you influence the outcome you want. The solution is to encourage your querent to ask questions that are open ended. For example: "How can I find my soulmate?" versus "Will I find my soulmate?"

2. Don't Ask Questions About Others

A tarot reading is only helpful for insight to the querent's story. It's not possible, and possibly unethical, to ask the cards to tell a story that does not belong to you. Avoid questions such as "Will she fall in love with me?" and instead ask "How can I improve my chances with her?"

3. Don't ask Questions about Health

Tarot readings lose their magic(k) when a querent asks about something outside the professional scope of a reader. Unless you are a licensed medical professional it is not appropriate to tell a querent that they are pregnant or when they will die, even though these are frequent questions querents ask.

4. Ask Specific Questions

A general reading without a question is typically less helpful for a querent because they are not able to focus their intentions on a desired goal or outcome based on the spread. Encourage your querent to think about their level of happiness with specific focus. For example: "How can I do better in _____ (aspects of life, relationships, career, or purpose).

Part 2 - How to Avoid Going Blank

All readers will sometimes "go blank". No matter how much intuition and experience you have, it's easy to lose confidence when the cards just don't make sense. Don't get thrown for a loop! The inclination to reshuffle and try again due to selfdoubt is something to avoid because it undermines the reader and the process. Many mediums believe it is disrespectful to the spirit guides to ask a question again because you don't like or understand the answer. When the cards seem wrong, the reason can be usually related back to one of the following:

The question was unclear.

An answer is only as good as the question and when you consider too many questions, or the question is too vague, the answer will reflect an equally garbled response. One way to avoid this is to help your querent ask a good question.

Not enough of the present is known to clarify the future outcome.

It is not unusual for a querent to return weeks after a reading that did not resonate with them at the time, only to declare it was obvious to them later. Explain to your querent that when the present is rapidly unfolding, the future may become clouded. We are not always meant to have an immediate answer.

You're having a bad day.

None of us can be our perfect and best version every day. You may be mentally distracted, hungry, without enough sleep, or otherwise not firing on all your usual cylinders. If you are not in the right frame of mind, it is better to put the cards down for a while. Also, do not read the cards if you are taking certain medications or are under the influence of drugs or alcohol. To avoid going blank, follow the 3-T rule:

- Take: Take a few deep breaths.
 Remember that clarity and communication are most effective when you relax.
- Talk: Talk about what each card means.
 The act of describing it can sometimes help you tap into an unexpected story.
- Trust: Trust in your intuition. Letting self-doubt get in your way is unhelpful. Reshuffling for a re-do only harms your belief in yourself, which is where the magic(k) comes from.

Part 3 - Learning New Spreads

Cards are data points. The more cards you use, the more detailed the reading. A one card spread can

indicate "yes" or "no" or reveal a single concept. New readers typically begin with a one or three card spread and then learn more complicated spreads such as a five-card spread, or a ten-card spread such as the Celtic Cross spread. The threecard spread is popular because it doesn't overwhelm a guerent and can usually be completed within 15 minutes. Advanced readers sometimes use a spread they invent themselves to fit their style and practice. There is no one correct card spread to use when practicing tarot. Each card represents a concept in the order drawn per the preference and intuition of the reader. **Examples include:**















EXAMPLE 10 CARD



2. Skeptics, Verbal Attacks, Unhappy Querents, and Who to Refer Away

A great reader can help people connect with their inner wisdom to increase their emotional wellbeing, set, and achieve goals, and positively reframe past experiences. While most people enjoy the idea of a glimpse of what the future holds for them, different people want and need different things from a reader. Some have a deep belief in tarot card reading, while others just want to enjoy a fun conversation focused on them. A reader will not be able to please everyone and should be prepared for demanding situations.

Skeptics

It is not unusual to have a skeptical querent say: "If you are psychic, prove it to me!" When this happens, it can be helpful to ask the querent to explain why they feel as they do. Some skeptics are coming from a position of uncertainty and want to be proved wrong. They are afraid of getting swindled.

Honest tarot card readers must contend with some readers who are not. The good news is that con-artists typically put out easy to spot red flags, which a reader may choose to share with a naysayer.

Honest tarot card readers NEVER do the following:

- Immediately offer to lift a spiritual hex or curse for a fee
- ✓ Fish for information to tell you what you want to hear
- ✓ Demand the querent keep the session a secret

Ask for payment on an unknown or unsecured website

Verbal Attacks

Some people feel tarot reading is an affront to their religious or moral beliefs and will attack a reader on social media, or sometimes at parties or events a reader is working at. For most of these people, no amount of reasoning will change their minds. To help diffuse attacks, let the person know you will not fight them and try to understand how they are feeling. Let go of your need to be correct, have thick skin, and try to be kind... but do not endure abuse. If a situation becomes escalated, it is ok to block someone on social media, walk away, ask someone to leave, or call security or police.

Unhappy Querents

Querents unhappy with the results of a reading sometimes respond with disbelief that borders on anger. Displaying consistent confidence and maintaining a relaxed body language can help. It's easy to doubt yourself in these moments. But remember that the cards show us both the dark and light. It's not always easy to listen to the message in a spread. Remind yourself to have compassion. A negative response is most often rooted in the querent's fear.

When to Refer Querents Away

Respecting the greatest good means that you have some job responsibility as a tarot reader. Unless you are a trained and licensed medical professional, your querent might need medical or psychological help you can't provide. It is advisable to strongly encourage querents to seek the support they need from the correct source. Never attempt to do any of the following for a querent:

1. Treat mental illness, depression, or clinical anxiety

- 2. Heal clinically relevant past trauma
- 3. Treat addictions
- 4. Cope with abuse

3. Protecting your Energy

Great tarot readers give a lot of energy to a reading and risk becoming drained, depressed, anxious, and overwhelmed. Energy vampires take your energy, often without knowing it, and can leave a reader exhausted and sometimes even sick. Even when someone is not taking energy, some empathetic readers unknowingly give all their energy away. As previously discussed, setting your intentions with an affirmation for grounding your energy can help. Crystals, such as lapis, quartz, obsidian, fluorite, jasper, and more, can also provide protective properties to safeguard personal energy storage and flow. Burning sage to smudge your workspace between querents can help purify the area of residual energies, too. But the most potent defense is to be aware of your energy level and know when to take a break. Something as simple as a well-timed walk in the sunshine can help prevent burnout and exhaustion.

4. How to Handle a Scary Reading

Nothing genuinely remarkable comes without paying the cost of something difficult. The light and the shadow are both necessary to an authentic human condition. For example, you can't experience greatness without also putting in the
work. You can't appreciate joy unless you can compare it to suffering. If you live in your comfort zone, you can't live life to the fullest. But what can you say to a querent whose eyes just got round as saucers in fear--- just looking at the imagery on the card?

Some of the best cards to get in a reading are also the scariest because they foretell suffering. Newer readers often try to make light of a negative card because it's hard to be the bearer of bad news. But, to do this is a great disservice, in most cases. Minimizing the story in the spread can rob the session of its ability to share a life lesson and help the querent find the most beneficial mindset for any needed problem-solving. A great tarot card reader knows how to frame these cards when they appear using the S.A.F.E. method: Example statements - sentences to use when playing it S.A.F.E:



 "This card represents a need to: <u>insert card</u> <u>meaning</u>. It (created, creates, will create) an opportunity for growth."

Acknowledgment

 "This card represents suffering due to <u>insert</u> <u>card meaning</u>. I'm sorry you (felt, feel, or will feel) that way."

Free Will

• "This card reminds us that the future is played out by the decisions we make. You

(could, can, will) influence the outcome by your choices."

Encouragement

• "Because this card represents: <u>insert card</u> <u>meaning</u>, you (had, have, will have) a chance to adapt a helpful mindset to best deal with the situation."

One final note, remember that tarot cards depict life lessons, including the Death card, which indicates only a necessary ending. Unless also a trained medical professional, it is unethical and abusive for a tarot reader to tell a querent they will die or how they will die (even though everyone will eventually die). If you are concerned about the safety and wellbeing of your querent, it is essential to refer them to the appropriate person or service.

IV. Professional Tarot Card Reading

1. Can you Make Money Reading Tarot?

According to glassdoor.com at the time of publishing this book, the national average salary for Tarot Reader is \$52,522 per year in the United States. Employers pay hourly rates or commissions. Unfortunately, there are many companies offering work from home jobs that are scams. Learn how to spot and avoid those from the United States Federal Trade Commission: https://www.consumer.ftc.gov/articles/jobscams#commonscams Many tarot readers own their tarot reading businesses and charge by the reading or for a retained number of hours. Rates vary significantly, with an average of \$100 per hour, typically derived by 15-minute sessions. Sessions can take place over the phone, online, or in person.

2. How Do I Start a Tarot Reading Business?

Deciding to set up a business in the United States requires planning and research. There are several legal considerations, including business structure and licenses, for which it is a good idea to consult with local experts such as from the Small Business Association. Taking a class on making money using social media (such as Facebook, TikTok, Instagram, YouTube, etc.) may provide you with a necessary skill. The following resources can be helpful:

- https://www.usa.gov/start-business
- https://www.sba.gov/business-guide/10steps-start-your-business
- https://www.irs.gov/businesses/smallbusinesses-self-employed/self-employedindividuals-tax-center

A business plan will help you to consider essential aspects of running a profitable business, such as your expected costs, how to market yourself, and how you will measure your success.

Problem	Solution	Unique Value	Advantage	Customer
		Proposition	c	Segments
State 1-3 problems your	Describe how your business solves the problem/s for	Describe how your	Describe how you have an advantage in solving the	Describe the
for customers.	customers.	business is unique and why customers	problem/s for customers.	different types of
		would select your business over		customers your
	Key Measures of Success	SUITEUTE EISE S.	Channels	help.
	Describe how you will know if your business is successful.		Describe where your customers will come from.	
Cost Structure		Revenue Streams		
Describe how the cost and run your business	Describe how the costs you will have to start up and run your business.	Describe how you will provide.	Describe how you will be paid for each type of service you provide.	xe you

One-Page Business Plan Template

3. Ethics

Reputable tarot readers hold to a standard of ethics that includes having integrity, respect, and competence. Following a code of ethics helps to ensure public confidence in the integrity and professionalism of the profession.

Tarotskill.com requires all holders of a Tarot Readerscore[®] and the Certified Tarot Master (CTM) to follow a strict code of ethics as follows:

- Tarot Readers shall read cards accurately, based on the reader's intuition, regardless of the impact on payment.
- Tarot Readers will not attempt to engage in services outside the scope of practice, including offering medical, mental health, legal or other advice,

unless they are appropriately licensed medical or legal professionals.

- 3. Tarot Readers shall not discriminate in the delivery of their services, or the conduct of professional activities based on race, ethnicity, sex, gender identity/gender expression, sexual orientation, age, religion, national origin, disability, culture, language, or dialect.
- Tarot Readers shall protect querents confidentiality and not discuss details of a reading outside the querent's presence.
- 5. Tarot Readers working under substance abuse, addiction, or other health-related conditions are impaired practitioners and shall seek professional assistance and, where appropriate, withdraw from their work.

- Tarot Readers shall enhance and refine their professional competence and expertise through engagement in lifelong learning applicable to their professional activities and skills.
- Tarot Readers shall not misrepresent their credentials, competence, education, training, experience, and spiritual contributions.
- Tarot Readers shall avoid engaging in conflicts of interest whereby personal, financial, or other considerations have the potential to influence or compromise professional judgment and objectivity.
- 9. Tarot Readers shall not defraud through intent, ignorance, or negligence or engage in any scheme to defraud in connection with obtaining payment, reimbursement, or grants and contracts for services provided

- Tarot Readers shall not engage in any form of conduct that adversely reflects on the tarot reading profession.
- Tarot Readers shall not engage in dishonesty, negligence, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.
- Tarot Readers shall not engage in any form of harassment, power abuse, or sexual harassment.
- Tarot Readers shall not knowingly allow anyone under their supervision to engage in any practice that violates this Code of Ethics.
- 14. Tarot Readers shall reference the source when using other persons' ideas, research, presentations, results, or products in written, oral, or any other media presentation or summary. To do otherwise constitutes plagiarism.
- 15. Tarot Readers shall not discriminate in their relationships with colleagues,

assistants, students, support personnel, and members of other professions and disciplines based on race, ethnicity, sex, gender identity/gender expression, sexual orientation, age, religion, national origin, disability, culture, language, dialect, or socioeconomic status.

- 16. Tarot Readers making and responding to complaints shall comply fully with the policies of CompetentSee, LLC in its consideration, adjudication, and resolution of complaints of alleged violations of the Code of Ethics.
- 17. Tarot Readers involved in ethics complaints shall not knowingly make false statements of fact or withhold relevant facts necessary to adjudicate the complaints fairly.
- Tarot Readers shall comply with local, state, and federal laws and regulations applicable to tarot reading.

19. Tarot Readers who have been convicted; been found guilty; or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to (1) any misdemeanor involving dishonesty, physical harm—or the threat of physical harm—to the person or property of another, or (2) any felony, shall selfreport by notifying to CompetentSee, LLC in writing within 30 days of the conviction, plea, or finding of guilt. Tarot Readers shall also provide a certified copy of the conviction, plea, nolo contendere.

Notes:

Appendix Individual Card Meanings

0 - The Fool

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Fearless Beginnings	Fearful Beginnings
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A



- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

I - The Magician

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Manifesting Reward	Manifesting Punishment
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 표요	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
N/A	Gemini= Versatile
	• Libra= Diplomatic
	Aquarius= Confident
• Planet/s: Mercury - Smart 🎗	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

II - The High Priestess

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Decisive Intuition	Silent Intuition
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology 💁 🔍 💥	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
N/A	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
• Planet/s: Moon - Feeling D	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

III - The Empress

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Nurturing Creator	Smothering Creator
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/	N/A
Securing	

Astrology 🛛 🕅 🕞	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
N/A	 Taurus= Collector Virgo= Precise Capricorn= Pragmatic
• Planet/s: Venus - Loving Q	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

IV - The Emperor

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Strong Leader	Ineffective Leader
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology 마요로	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Aries= Self-aware	• Aries= Self-aware
	Leo= Dominating
	Sagittarius= Intellectual
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

V - The Hierophant

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Traditional Teaching	Unconventional Thinking
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	N/A

Astrology 🛛 🕅 🕞	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Taurus= Collector	 Taurus= Collector Virgo= Precise Capricorn= Pragmatic
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

VI - The Lovers

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Euphoric Choice	Haunted Choice
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 표요ண	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Gemini= Versatile	 Gemini= Versatile Libra= Diplomatic Aquarius= Confident
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

VII - The Chariot

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Persevering Willpower Tested Willpower	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology ତିଲ,⊬	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Cancer= Sensitive	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

VIII - Strength

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Unquestioned Confidence	Exhausted Confidence
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology ରି ୩ 🖍	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Leo= Dominating	Aries= Self-aware
	Leo= Dominating
	Sagittarius= Intellectual
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

IX - The Hermit

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Soul Searching	Self Isolation
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	N/A

Astrology 🕅 🕅	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Virgo= Precise	Taurus= Collector
	• Virgo= Precise
	Capricorn= Pragmatic
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

X - Wheel of Fortune

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Lucky Twist of Fate	Unforeseen challenge
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology 마 & 🖍	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
N/A	 Aries= Self-aware Leo= Dominating Sagittarius= Intellectual
• Planet/s: Jupiter - Growing =	뇌

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

XI - Justice

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Fair Judgement	Unfair Bias	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 鱼耳篇	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Libra= Diplomatic	Gemini= Versatile
	Libra= Diplomatic
	Aquarius= Confident
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

XII - The Hanged Man

For yes/no: "No"

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Reward Sacrifice	Empty Reward	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A



- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

XIII - Death

• For yes/no: "No"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Necessary Ending	Resisted Ending
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology ₪ 🕄 🗃	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Scorpio= Focused	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

XIV - Temperance

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Patient Balance	Reckless Imbalance
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology 🖈 ୩ ରି	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Sagittarius= Intellectual	 Aries= Self-aware Leo= Dominating Sagittarius= Intellectual
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

XV - The Devil

• For yes/no: "No"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Destructive Indulgence	Releasing Indulgence
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	N/A

Astrology ᠾ 🛛 🕅	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Capricorn= Pragmatic	 Taurus= Collector Virgo= Precise Capricorn= Pragmatic
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

XVI - The Tower

• For yes/no: "No"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Painful Transition	Needed Transition
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology 마읪乄	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
N/A	 Aries= Self-aware Leo= Dominating Sagittarius= Intellectual
 Planet/s: Mars - Tough d 	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

XVII - The Star

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Bright Opportunity	Dim Opportunity
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 요፲	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Aquarius= Confident	 Gemini= Versatile Libra= Diplomatic Aquarius= Confident
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

XVIII - The Moon

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Shadowed Illusion Illusion Revealed	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology 🖁 🕄 🕅	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Pisces= Intuitive	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

XIX - The Sun

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Unbridled Joy Dampened Joy	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology 마읪乄	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
N/A	 Aries= Self-aware Leo= Dominating Sagittarius= Intellectual
• Planet/s: Sun – Sure ⊙	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

XX - Judgement

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Earned Reward	Negative Consequence
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A



- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A
XXI - The World

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Triumphant Completion	Hollow Completion
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: N/A	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	N/A

Astrology 🛛 🕅 🕞	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
N/A	 Taurus= Collector Virgo= Precise Capricorn= Pragmatic
• Planet/s: Saturn - Unsure ħ	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

1 - Ace of Swords

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
New Found Clarity	Unfound Focus	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Potential		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 표요	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
 Gemini= Versatile Libra= Diplomatic Aquarius= Confident 	 Gemini= Versatile Libra= Diplomatic Aquarius= Confident
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

2 - Two of Swords

• For yes/no: "Intuition of reader"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Difficult Decision	Overthinking Choices
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Choice	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 요፲篇	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Libra= Diplomatic	Gemini= Versatile
	Libra= Diplomatic
	Aquarius= Confident
• Planet/s: Moon - Feeling ⊃	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Early Fall

3 - Three of Swords

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Severe Heartbreak	Recovering Heartbreak
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Advancing	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 요፲篇	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Libra= Diplomatic	Gemini= Versatile
	 Libra= Diplomatic Aquarius= Confident
• Planet/s: Saturn - Unsure ħ	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Early Fall

4 - Four of Swords

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Earned Rest	Looming Burnout
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Comparison	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 요፲篇	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Libra= Diplomatic	Gemini= Versatile
	• Libra= Diplomatic
	Aquarius= Confident
• Planet/s: Jupiter - Growing 4	Ч

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Fall

5 - Five of Swords

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Ruthless Win	Compromise to Win
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Struggle	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 요፲	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Aquarius= Confident	 Gemini= Versatile Libra= Diplomatic Aquarius= Confident
• Planet/s: Venus - Loving Q	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: winter

6 - Six of Swords

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Needed Change	Reluctant Change
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Balance	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 🖾 요 표	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Aquarius= Confident	 Gemini= Versatile Libra= Diplomatic Aquarius= Confident
• Planet/s: Mercury - Smart 🎗	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: winter

7 - Seven of Swords

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Hidden Deceit	Self Deception	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Reflection		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 🖾 요 표	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Aquarius= Confident	 Gemini= Versatile Libra= Diplomatic Aquarius= Confident
• Planet/s: Moon - Feeling D	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Late Winter

8 - Eight of Swords

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Self Doubt	Returning Confidence
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Expertise	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 표요	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Gemini= Versatile	 Gemini= Versatile Libra= Diplomatic Aquarius= Confident
• Planet/s: Jupiter - Growing =	4

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Late Spring

9 - Nine of Swords

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Reliving Past Trauma	Accepting Past Trauma
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Consequence	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 표요ண	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Gemini= Versatile	 Gemini= Versatile Libra= Diplomatic Aquarius= Confident
• Planet/s: Mars - Tough ơ	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Late Spring

10 - Ten of Swords

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Deep Anguish	Lifting Anguish	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Postmortem		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	N/A

Astrology 표요ண	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Gemini= Versatile	 Gemini= Versatile Libra= Diplomatic Aquarius= Confident
• Planet/s: Sun – Sure ⊙	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Early Summer

Page of Swords

• For yes/no: "Intuition of reader"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Strategic Solutioning	Disconnected Information
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Messages	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	Air: Intellect/Thinking

Astrology 표요ண	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Gemini= Versatile	Gemini= Versatile
• Libra= Diplomatic	Libra= Diplomatic
• Aquarius= Confident	Aquarius= Confident
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: Winter solstice

Knight of Swords

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Unstoppable Force	Chaotic Force
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Effort	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	Fire: Action/Doing

Astrology 🖾 நி 🕰	Д
By Golden Dawn	By Element
• Aquarius= Confident	Gemini= Versatile
Capricorn= Pragmatic	Libra= Diplomatic
	Aquarius= Confident
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Winter

Queen of Swords

• For yes/no: "Intuition of reader"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Thinking Strategically	Thinking with Emotion
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Feelings	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	Water: Emotion/Feeling

Astrology 鱼咖缸篇	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
• Libra= Diplomatic	Gemini= Versatile
• Virgo= Precise	• Libra= Diplomatic
	Aquarius= Confident
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Early Fall

King of Swords

• For yes/no: "Intuition of reader"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Ethics over Emotion	Emotions over Ethics
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Dependable	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Air= Intellect/Thinking	Earth: Responsibility/ Securing

Astrology 표정요篇	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Gemini= Versatile	Gemini= Versatile
• Taurus= Collector	Libra= Diplomatic
	Aquarius= Confident
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Late Spring

1 - Ace of Coins

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
New Abundance	Missed Opportunity
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Potential	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	N/A

Astrology 🛛 🕅 🕞	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
• Taurus= Collector	Taurus= Collector
• Virgo= Precise	• Virgo= Precise
Capricorn= Pragmatic	Capricorn= Pragmatic
• Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

2 - Two of Coins

• For yes/no: "Intuition of reader"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Set Priorities	Reassess Priorities
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Choice	

Secondary Element:
N/A

Astrology நெ கால	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Capricorn= Pragmatic	 Taurus= Collector Virgo= Precise Capricorn= Pragmatic
• Planet/s: Jupiter - Growing	4

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Early Winter

3 - Three of Coins

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Building Foundation	Lesson Unlearned
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Advancing	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	N/A

Astrology ந் 8 ந	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Capricorn= Pragmatic	 Taurus= Collector Virgo= Precise Capricorn= Pragmatic
 Planet/s: Mars - Tough d 	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Early Winter

4 - Four of Coins

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Holding Tight	Letting Go	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Comparison		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	N/A

Astrology ந் 8 ந	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Capricorn= Pragmatic	 Taurus= Collector Virgo= Precise Capricorn= Pragmatic
• Planet/s: Sun – Sure ⊙	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: winter

5 - Five of Coins

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Hard Misfortune	Recovering Stability
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Struggle	

Secondary Element:
N/A

Astrology 🛛 🕅 🕞	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Taurus= Collector	 Taurus= Collector Virgo= Precise Capricorn= Pragmatic
• Planet/s: Mercury - Smart 🏼	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Spring

6 - Six of Coins

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Generous Giving	Unbalanced Taking
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Balance	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/	N/A
Securing	

Astrology 🛛 🕅 ந	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Taurus= Collector	 Taurus= Collector Virgo= Precise Capricorn= Pragmatic
• Planet/s: Moon - Feeling ⊃	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Spring

7 - Seven of Coins

• For yes/no: "Intuition of reader"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Fruits of Labor	Diminished Returns
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Reflection	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	N/A

Astrology 🛛 🕅 🕞	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Taurus= Collector	 Taurus= Collector Virgo= Precise Capricorn= Pragmatic
• Planet/s: Saturn - Unsure ħ	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Late Spring

8 - Eight of Coins

• For yes/no: "Intuition of reader"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Acquiring Expertise	Problematic Perfectionism
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Expertise	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	N/A

Astrology 🕅 🕅	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Virgo= Precise	Taurus= Collector
	 Virgo= Precise
	Capricorn= Pragmatic
• Planet/s: Sun – Sure ⊙	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Late Summer

9 - Nine of Coins

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Prosperous Victory	Unfulfilled Achievement
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Consequence	

Secondary Element:
N/A

Astrology 🕅 🕅	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Virgo= Precise	 Taurus= Collector Virgo= Precise Capricorn= Pragmatic
• Planet/s: Venus - Loving Q	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Late Summer

10 - Ten of Coins

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Lasting Security	Underlying Instability
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Postmortem	

Secondary Element:
N/A

Astrology 🕅 🏷 🕞	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Virgo= Precise	 Taurus= Collector Virgo= Precise Capricorn= Pragmatic
• Planet/s: Mercury - Smart 🏼	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Early Fall

Page of Coins

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Recognized Opportunity	Disconnected Goals
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Messages	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	Air: Intellect/Thinking

Astrology 🛛 🕅 ந	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
• Taurus= Collector	Taurus= Collector
• Virgo= Precise	• Virgo= Precise
Capricorn= Pragmatic	Capricorn= Pragmatic
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: vernal equinox

Knight of Coins

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Patience to Succeed	Unbalanced Actions
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Effort	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	Fire: Action/Doing



- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Spring

Queen of Coins

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Peaceful Abundance	Wasteful Attachment
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Feelings	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	Water: Emotion/Feeling

Astrology 🖫 🖉 🕅	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Capricorn= Pragmatic	Taurus= Collector
• Sagittarius= Intellectual	• Virgo= Precise
	Capricorn= Pragmatic
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Early Winter

King of Coins

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Secure Abundance	Weakened Security
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Dependable	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Earth= Responsibility/ Securing	Earth: Responsibility/ Securing
Jecumg	Jecuma

Astrology ଲ୍ବାରିପ୍ର	Ъ
By Golden Dawn	By Element
• Virgo= Precise	Taurus= Collector
• Leo= Dominating	• Virgo= Precise
	Capricorn= Pragmatic
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Late Summer

1 - Ace of Wands

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Motivated Beginning	Useless Delay	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Potential		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology 마んズ	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
• Aries= Self-aware	Aries= Self-aware
• Leo= Dominating	Leo= Dominating
• Sagittarius= Intellectual	Sagittarius= Intellectual
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

2 - Two of Wands

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Moving Forward	Holding Back	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Choice		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology 마읪乄	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Aries= Self-aware	 Aries= Self-aware Leo= Dominating Sagittarius= Intellectual
 Planet/s: Mars - Tough ♂ 	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Early Spring

3 - Three of Wands

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Notable Growth	Unexpected Setback
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Advancing	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology 마읪乄	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Aries= Self-aware	 Aries= Self-aware Leo= Dominating Sagittarius= Intellectual
• Planet/s: Sun – Sure ⊙	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Early Spring

4 - Four of Wands

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Grateful Togetherness	Alone in a Crowd	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Comparison		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology 마んズ	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Aries= Self-aware	 Aries= Self-aware Leo= Dominating
	Sagittarius= Intellectual
• Planet/s: Venus - Loving Q	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Spring

5 - Five of Wands

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Frictional Conflict	Resolving Conflict
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Struggle	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology ඩෆ 🖍	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Leo= Dominating	Aries= Self-aware
	Leo= Dominating
	Sagittarius= Intellectual
• Planet/s: Saturn - Unsure ħ	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Summer

6 - Six of Wands

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Glorious Win	Fall from Grace
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Balance	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology ରି ମ୍ମ 🖈	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Leo= Dominating	Aries= Self-aware
	Leo= Dominating
	Sagittarius= Intellectual
• Planet/s: Jupiter - Growing =	4

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Summer

7 - Seven of Wands

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
All-In Determined	Lost Courage	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Reflection		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology බ ආ 🖍	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Leo= Dominating	Aries= Self-aware
	Leo= DominatingSagittarius= Intellectual
● Planet/s: Mars - Tough ♂	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Late Summer
8 - Eight of Wands

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Accelerating Quickly	No Traction	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Expertise		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology 🖈 ୩ ରି	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Sagittarius= Intellectual	 Aries= Self-aware Leo= Dominating Sagittarius= Intellectual
• Planet/s: Mercury - Smart 🏼	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Late Fall

9 - Nine of Wands

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Withstanding Adversity	Drained Defeat
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Consequence	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology 🖈 ආ බ	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Sagittarius= Intellectual	 Aries= Self-aware Leo= Dominating Sagittarius= Intellectual
• Planet/s: Moon - Feeling D	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Late Fall

10 - Ten of Wands

• For yes/no: "No"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Heavy Burden	Unaccepted Responsibility
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Postmortem	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	N/A

Astrology 🖈 ආ බ	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Sagittarius= Intellectual	• Aries= Self-aware
	Leo= Dominating
	Sagittarius= Intellectual
• Planet/s: Saturn - Unsure ħ	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Early Winter

Page of Wands

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Rapid Fire Planning	Procrastinating Action
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Messages	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	Air: Intellect/Thinking

Astrology 마읪乄	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
• Aries= Self-aware	Aries= Self-aware
• Leo= Dominating	Leo= Dominating
Sagittarius= Intellectual	Sagittarius= Intellectual
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: Summer solstice

Knight of Wands

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Fearless Action	Senseless Risk
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Effort	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	Fire: Action/Doing

Astrology ରିତ୍ରିମ୍ନ	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
• Leo= Dominating	Aries= Self-aware
• Cancer= Sensitive	Leo= Dominating
	Sagittarius= Intellectual
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Summer

Queen of Wands

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Confident Ambition	Fearful Yearning
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Feelings	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	Water: Emotion/Feeling

Astrology 따光&	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
• Aries= Self-aware	Aries= Self-aware
• Pisces= Intuitive	Leo= Dominating
	Sagittarius= Intellectual
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Early Spring

King of Wands

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Dependably Goal Oriented	Overbearingly Goal Oriented
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Dependable	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Fire= Action/Doing	Earth: Responsibility/
	Securing

Astrology 🖈 ጫ ዋ ል	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Sagittarius= Intellectual	Aries= Self-aware
• Scorpio= Focused	Leo= Dominating
	Sagittarius= Intellectual
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Late Fall

1 - Ace of Cups

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Emotional Readiness	Emotional Introspection
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Potential	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology ତିଲ,⊬	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
• Cancer= Sensitive	Cancer= Sensitive
• Scorpio= Focused	• Scorpio= Focused
• Pisces= Intuitive	Pisces= Intuitive
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: N/A

2 - Two of Cups

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Perfect Partnership	Needed Self Reflection
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Choice	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology 💁 🔍 🕂	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Cancer= Sensitive	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
• Planet/s: Venus - Loving Q	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Early Summer

3 - Three of Cups

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Gleeful Celebration	Excessive Expectations
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Advancing	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology 💁 🔍 🕂	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Cancer= Sensitive	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
• Planet/s: Mercury - Smart 🏼	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Early Summer

4 - Four of Cups

• For yes/no: "No"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Arrogant Wastefulness	Regretful Comparison
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Comparison	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology 🗐 🔍 🕂	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Cancer= Sensitive	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
• Planet/s: Moon - Feeling ♪	

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Summer

5 - Five of Cups

• For yes/no: "No"

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Haunting Loss	Healing Loss	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Struggle		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology ₪ 🕄 🗃	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Scorpio= Focused	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
 Planet/s: Mars - Tough d 	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Fall

6 - Six of Cups

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Cherished Memories	Living in the Past	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Balance		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology ₪ 🕄 🗃	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Scorpio= Focused	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
• Planet/s: Sun – Sure ⊙	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Fall

7 - Seven of Cups

• For yes/no: "Intuition of reader"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Grandiose Temptations	Grounded Reality
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Reflection	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology ₪ 🕄 💥	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Scorpio= Focused	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
• Planet/s: Venus - Loving Q	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Late Fall

8 - Eight of Cups

• For yes/no: "No"

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Stagnant Routine	Feared Change	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Expertise		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology 💥 🕄 🛝	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Pisces= Intuitive	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
• Planet/s: Saturn - Unsure ħ	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Late Winter

9 - Nine of Cups

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Wishes Granted	Empty Promises
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Consequence	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology 💥 🕄 🕅	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Pisces= Intuitive	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
• Planet/s: Jupiter - Growing	4

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Late Winter

10 - Ten of Cups

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Lovingly Complete	Emotionally Incomplete
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Postmortem	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	N/A

Astrology 🖁 🕄 🕅	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
Pisces= Intuitive	 Cancer= Sensitive Scorpio= Focused Pisces= Intuitive
 Planet/s: Mars - Tough d 	

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Early Spring

Page of Cups

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
New Excitement	Lost Motivation
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Messages	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	Air: Intellect/Thinking

Astrology ᠑᠓, ⊬	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
• Cancer= Sensitive	Cancer= Sensitive
• Scorpio= Focused	• Scorpio= Focused
• Pisces= Intuitive	• Pisces= Intuitive
Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: N/A
- Season: Autumnal equinox

Knight of Cups

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Flowing Attraction	Interrupted Appeal
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Effort	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	Fire: Action/Doing

Astrology 🔍 🖸 🕄 🕂	
By Golden Dawn	By Element
• Scorpio= Focused	Cancer= Sensitive
• Libra= Diplomatic	• Scorpio= Focused
	• Pisces= Intuitive
• Planet/s: N/A	

- Time: Fixed Middle
- Season: Fall

Queen of Cups

• For yes/no: "Intuition of reader"

Position	
Upright:	Reversed:
Intuitive Compassion	Unintuitive Comparison
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Feelings	

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	Water: Emotion/Feeling

Astrology ତା I ଲ 🗃		
By Golden Dawn	By Element	
Cancer= Sensitive	Cancer= Sensitive	
• Gemini= Versatile	• Scorpio= Focused	
	• Pisces= Intuitive	
• Planet/s: N/A		

- Time: Cardinal Beginning
- Season: Early Summer

King of Cups

• For yes/no: "Intuition of reader"

Position		
Upright:	Reversed:	
Peaceful Diplomacy	Uncontrolled Emotion	
PIP/Court Numerology Inference: Dependable		

Elements	
Primary Element:	Secondary Element:
Water= Emotion/Feeling	Earth: Responsibility/
	Securing

Astrology 💥 🖾 🚱 🎢		
By Golden Dawn	By Element	
• Pisces= Intuitive	Cancer= Sensitive	
• Aquarius= Confident	• Scorpio= Focused	
	• Pisces= Intuitive	
Planet/s: N/A		

- Time: Mutable End
- Season: Late Winter

About the Author

Grace Calas is an intuitive psychic and energy healer with more than 25 years of experience helping people to find inner clarity and personal fulfillment. Grace is a 10th generation Usui Reiki Master and uses energy triggers to open the 3rd eye in tarot readings. She is the designer of the Lightworker's Tarot Deck and the Star Kissed Tarot Deck. She is a hereditary Celtic witch from UK origins and studied with a Gardnerian coven until 2005.

She is CEO of Tarot Skills, powered by CompetentSee, LCC, an online community for lightworkers. Grace has been practicing Tarot since 2005, she is a Certified Tarot Master (CTM), and she holds an unusually high ReaderScore[™] of 720.

About the Deck



The Star Kissed Tarot Deck is a traditional 78-card tarot deck based on the original "Golden Dawn" system first used by the Rider–Waite– Smith deck in 1909. This deck is a natural

next step for owners of The Lightworker's Deck because it builds upon the basics by adding advanced tarot reading techniques, while still not requiring the reader to use a guidebook. The Star Kissed Deck provides powerful imagery including keywords, symbols, and hints built into the card design to instantly give the reader information without having to use a guidebook to look it up. Our decks are designed for lightworkers: empaths, reiki and energy healers, clairvoyants, mediums, and psychics with vivid imagery for a rapid sensoryintuition response.

- Professional grade card stock easily shuffles
- ► New readers will not need a guidebook
- Includes tarot training
- ► Includes a free ReaderScore[™]
- Includes master level certification exam
- Get premium access to the TarotSkills.com
 Community

Reiki treated to clear all energies before shipping
 Made in the USA

https://tarotskills.com/starkissedtarot/

